STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County

Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID LEE WALKER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000519

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

The evidence adduced at Appellant's trial did not support the court's jury instruction concerning the accomplice liability principle of "hand of one is the hand of all" as an alternative theory of Appellant's criminal liability.

II.

The trial court committed an error of law by denying Appellant's motion for a continuance so as to allow Appellant, who was indigent, the chance to secure an expert in gunshot residue analysis where the trial court had only approved funding for such an expert one week before trial, thus denying Appellant's right to equal protection and due process right to present a complete defense.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 21, 2014, the Laurens County Grand Jury indicted Appellant David Lee Walker for murder. R. 482. On February 23-27, 2015, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., and a jury.

Elizabeth P. Wiygul represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor O. Warren Mowry represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 468, l. 7 - 469, l. 23. The trial court sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment. R. 473, l. 7 - 474, l. 13.

ARGUMENT

I.

The evidence adduced at Appellant's trial did not support the court's jury instruction concerning the accomplice liability principle of "hand of one is the hand of all" as an alternative theory of Appellant's criminal liability.

Relevant Facts

Laurens County Sheriff's deputies responded to a 911 call regarding a shooting at a single-wide trailer located outside of Enoree, South Carolina. R. 141, l. 3 - 147, l. 18. Arriving at the trailer, law enforcement encountered Appellant sitting in a chair on the front porch with a gunshot wound at the base of his neck. *Id.* Deputy Marty Crain, the officer first to arrive, heard frenzied screaming coming from inside the trailer. *Id.*

Crain knocked on the door. After a few minutes, a hysterical Kelly Ball opened it. Ball attempted to explain to Cain what happened, but was so frantic that she was unintelligible. Upon entering the trailer, Crain immediately saw that the trailer's owner and Ball's boyfriend, Johnny Cheeks, had also been shot. R. 121, l. 1 - 122, l. 22.

Crain and the other deputies administered first aid to Cheeks until EMS arrived. Both Cheeks and Appellant were taken to Greenville Hospital. Cheeks died the next day. R. 367, ll. 3-16. Laurens County Sheriff's Lieutenant Bryant Cheek was the lead investigator. He arrived shortly after the 911 call. R. 354, l. 7 - 355, l. 24.

He spoke briefly to Johnny Cheeks before Cheeks was taken to the hospital. Lt. Cheek would claim at trial that, "I heard Mr. Cheeks state that they came to rob him. [That Appellant] shot him. He shot [Appellant]. And then [Appellant] shot him again. *Id.* Police recovered a Lorcin .38 caliber semi-automatic pistol from Cheeks' yard. R. 279, l. 6 - 284, l. 4. At the hospital, Lt. Cheek performed a gunshot residue test on Appellant. R. 360, l. 18 - 361, l. 17.

Appellant's Trial

Appellant proceeded to trial alone. His two alleged co-defendants, Christopher Wells and Johnny Lee Saxon, did not stand trial with him. Appellant moved pre-trial to relieve his appointed defense attorney, explaining to the court that he did not believe she had adequately prepared his defense. R. 7, l. 2 - 13, l. 14. The trial court, noting that Appellant had successfully relieved several other attorneys that were appointed to represent him, denied the motion. Appellant then refused to participate in or attend his trial. *Id.*

State's Opening Argument

The State's theory of the case was that Appellant, Johnny Lee Saxon, and Christopher Wells attempted to rob Cheeks. R. 66, l. 14 - 70, l. 10. Assistant Solicitor Mowry promised jurors, "[w]e submit to you that David Lee Walker was the shooter, and we will present to you scientific evidence that will support that conclusion. Mr. Walker was also found at the scene. He also had been shot. We submit to you that he was shot by Johnny Lee Cheeks." *Id.* The State also explained the "hand of one is the hand of all" principle of accomplice liability. *Id.*

Trial Testimony of Toris Moore

The State's first witness was Appellant's niece, Toris Moore. R. 75, l. 23 - 76, l. 4. Moore claimed that on the night of the shooting, Appellant stopped by her house and asked to borrow her mother's gun. R. 76, l. 21 - 78, l. 24. Christopher Wells and Johnny Lee Saxon were with him.

Moore alleged that Appellant told her he needed a gun because the three were "going to Enoree to rob an older man at his house." R. 78, ll. 7-20. Moore lied to Appellant and claimed that her mother had sold the pistol. *Id.* Moore further testified that Wells already had a gun on him and that she lied to Appellant because she did not want to be involved. R. 79, l. 2 - 80, l. 12.

Trial Testimony of Kelly Ball

At trial, Ball testified that she and Cheeks had just arrived at Cheeks trailer after picking up food at a nearby Waffle House when there was a knock at the front door. R. 90, l. 9 - 91, l. 22. Cheeks went to answer the door while Ball remained in the living room. From her vantage point Ball could not see the front door. *Id.* Ball reluctantly admitted that Cheeks was a drug dealer and sold both drugs and moonshine out of his residence. *Id.* After Cheeks opened the front door and stepped on to the front porch, Ball heard an argument ensue between Cheeks and at least one other person. R. 92, l. 3 - 95, l. 24.

Shortly after the argument began, Ball claimed that she heard a loud thud and then multiple gunshots. *Id.* Ball stated that she then ran towards the still open front door to check on Cheeks. *Id.* Once she reached Cheeks, she saw Appellant also lying shot in the yard. *Id.* Ball further claimed that she saw a third individual she later identified as Christopher Wells, standing in the yard. Wells fled after seeing Ball. R. 96, ll. 4-21

Ball alleged that after she pulled Cheeks into the trailer and closed the door, Appellant knocked on the door pleading to be let in. Ball recalled that Cheeks told her “[d]o not open that door. That is who shot me.” R. 101, ll. 1-16. A few minutes after Ball pulled Cheeks inside the trailer, law enforcement and EMS arrived. R. 102, ll. 2-13.

Ballistic and Gunshot Residue Evidence

Law enforcement was unable to develop any latent prints from the Lorcin pistol recovered from Cheeks’ yard. R. 305, ll. 10-11. SLED technician Jennifer Stoner completed gunshot residue tests on the samples taken by Lt. Cheek. R. 318, ll. 9-17. She testified that particles found on Appellant’s hands were consistent and associated with gunshot residue. R. 321, ll. 2-23. Bullets removed from Cheeks were a ballistic match for the Lorcin pistol. R. 344, l. 11 - 346, l. 24.

Jury Instructions

Defense counsel objected to the State's request that the court instruct the jury on the accomplice liability principle of "hand of one is the hand of all." R. 404, l. 24 - 409, l. 14. Defense counsel argued that, based on the evidence the State presented at trial, the only way for the jury to find Appellant guilty was by concluding that he shot Cheeks. *Id.* Counsel also argued that the State had made a deliberate decision not to try Appellant with this alleged co-conspirators and had not charged Appellant with attempted robbery or criminal conspiracy. *Id.*

The State countered "except for Toris Mooer, Your Honor," implying that Moore's testimony regarding Appellant looking for a gun provided the State with a basis to allege "hand of one is the hand of all". R. 405, l. 5. The trial court summarily dismissed Appellant's objections and charged the jury

Ladies and gentlemen, I instruct you that if a crime is committed by two or more people who are acting together in committing a crime, the act of one is the act of all. A person who joins with another to commit an unlawful act is criminally responsible for everything done by the other person which happens as a probably or natural consequence of the act done in carrying out the common plan and purpose.

R. 453, ll. 11-17; *see also* R. 409, ll. 10-14. During prolonged deliberations, jurors requested and re-heard the testimony of Toris Moore and Kelly Ball. R. 467, ll. 16-17.

After two days of deliberations, the jury found Appellant guilty of murder, but **not guilty of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.** R. 469, ll. 12-20.

Discussion

There was no evidence produced at Appellant's trial to support charging the jury with the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory of accomplice liability. From the beginning of the trial, the State's theory was that Appellant was the shooter. R. 67, l. 14 - 68, l. 15. Nevertheless, the State successfully sought to have the jury instructed on the principle of "hand of one is the hand of all" accomplice liability. Accordingly, the trial court committed a reversible error in instructing the jury on the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory as the instruction was not warranted by the evidence. R. 453, ll. 11-22.

The trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. *Sheppard v. State*, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004). "The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). "In reviewing jury charges for error, we must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial." *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 478-79, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010).

Under the 'hand of one is the hand of all' theory, a person who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by any co-conspirator incidental to the execution of their common objective. *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 478-79, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010).

In *Barber v. State*, our Supreme Court analogized jury instructions on alternate theories of liability as the prosecutorial equivalent of jury instructions on lesser included offenses:

In *State v. Funchess*, 267 S.C. 427, 229 S.E.2d 331 (1976), and other cases, this Court has held that a lesser-included offense **may not be charged merely on the theory the jury may believe some of the evidence and disbelieve other evidence. . . .**

Like a lesser-included offense, an alternate theory of liability may only be charged **when the evidence is equivocal on some integral fact** and the jury has been presented with evidence upon which it could rely to find the existence or nonexistence of that fact.

Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 439 (2011) (*emphasis added*). In *Barber*, the State alleged that the defendant and three others conspired to rob a drug dealer. During the course of the robbery the drug dealer was shot with a semi-automatic handgun. *Id.* The defendant's co-conspirators testified at trial and identified him as the shooter. *Id.* at 235, 712 S.E. 2d at 438.

However, defense counsel elicited testimony on cross-examination that one of the co-conspirators also had a semi-automatic handgun with him **during the robbery**. *Id.* On appeal, Barber alleged that the jury instruction on "hand of one is the hand of all" was improper. *Id.* at 236, 712 S.E. 2d at 438. The Supreme Court disagreed holding that the testimony elicited by defense counsel that a co-conspirator was armed **at the time of the robbery with the same kind of weapon as was used to kill the drug dealer permitted the charge**. "[T]he sum of the evidence presented at trial, both by the State and defense, was equivocal as to who was the shooter." *Id.* at 236, 712 S.E. 2d at 439

Conversely, in *Wilds v. State*, this Court recently held that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge on appeal the trial court's decision to instruct the jury on the principle of the "hand of one is the hand of all" in response to a jury question. *Wilds v. State*, 407 S.C. 432, 440, 756 S.E. 2d. 387, 391 (Ct. App. 2014). Wilds was charged with the robbery and murder of Anthony Rumph. At trial, the State alleged that Wilds and two co-defendants passed Rumph on the street and that Wilds, believing Rumph was carrying money, led the group in robbing Rumph. *Id.* at 436-437, 756 S.E. 2d. at 389.

The co-defendants testified that Wilds shot Rumph in the chest after Rumph refused to surrender his wallet. *Id.* No weapon was ever recovered. During deliberations, the jury sent a note

asking the trial court “if we say [Wilds is] guilty of murder, are we saying he of the three [alone] actually pulled the trigger?” *Id.* at 437, 756 S.E.2d at 389. In response, the trial court instructed the jury on “hand of one is the hand of all” accomplice liability. Defense counsel objected, but appellate counsel did not raise the issue on appeal. *Id.*

In affirming the PCR court’s granting of a new trial, this Court contrasted *Wilds* with *Barber* and concluded that “no evidence in the instant case indicated anyone other than Wilds was the shooter.” *Id.* at 439-440, 756 S.E.2d at 390-391. Specifically, this Court determined that while the jury may have found the co-conspirators’ testimony not credible, “an alternate theory of liability, such as accomplice liability, ‘may not be charged merely on the theory the jury may believe some of the evidence and disbelieve other evidence.’” *Id.*

Therefore, to support an accomplice liability “hand of one is the hand of all” charge, the State must present evidence that a co-conspirator was the shooter and that Appellant was acting in concert with this co-conspirator when the robbery took place. *See State v. Dickman*, 341 S.C. 293, 295–96, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000). Like a defense counsel’s request for instructions on a lesser included offense, in order to secure a charge on the accomplice liability theory of “hand of one is the hand of all,” the State must present evidence “from which the jury could infer the defendant” was an accomplice rather than the shooter. *Barber v. State*, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 439

In Appellant’s case, the State presented no evidence indicating that anyone other than Appellant was the shooter under its theory of the case. As the assistant solicitor stressed in his opening argument, “[w]e submit to you that [Appellant] was the shooter, and we will present to you scientific evidence that will support that conclusion.” R. 67, ll. 6-15. Two pistols were recovered from the incident scene. One belonged to Cheeks. The other was the murder weapon. According to Kelly Ball, Cheeks identified Appellant as the shooter. R. 101, ll. 4-9.

By contrast, in *Barber* there was evidence that two of the robbers were armed with .38 caliber pistol **at the time of the robbery**. 393 S.C. at 236-237, 712 S.E.2d at 439. The decedent was killed by a .38 caliber bullet. *Id.* While the defendant in *Barber* was identified by co-conspirators as the shooter, the jury could still conclude that the other co-conspirator with the second pistol shot the decedent and that the defendant was merely participating in the robbery. *Id.*

Here, the State's only argument in support of the "hand of one is the hand of all charge" was that Appellant's niece, Toris Moore, claimed that, **several hours before the incident**, Appellant tried unsuccessfully to borrow her mother's handgun and that Christopher Wells had a handgun with him at that time. R. 77, l. 17 - 79, l. 16. This is insufficient to justify a charge on an alternate theory of liability as it does not present a coherent alternative narrative "from which the jury could infer the defendant" was only an accomplice rather than the shooter.

The assistant solicitor was unequivocal in his belief that Appellant was the shooter. R. 67, ll. 6-15. The defense countered that Appellant was merely present at Cheeks' trailer when the shooting occurred. R. 73, l. 16 - 74, l. 24. Clearly the jury was influenced by the "hand of one is the hand of all" instruction as they returned a guilty verdict as to murder, but a not guilty verdict as to possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 469, ll. 12-20. However, given the facts presented by the State at trial, there was simply no evidence to support charging the jury with the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory of accomplice liability.

Accordingly, the trial court erred and Appellant is entitled to a new trial.

II.

The trial court committed an error of law by denying Appellant's motion for a continuance so as to allow Appellant, who was indigent, the chance to secure an expert in gunshot residue analysis where the trial court had only approved funding for such an expert one week before trial, thus denying Appellant's right to equal protection and due process right to present a complete defense.

Relevant Facts

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved for a continuance so that she would have the opportunity to retain a gunshot residue (hereinafter "GSR") expert. R. 28, l. 2 - 31, l. 8. Counsel explained that she had been appointed to Appellant's case only three months before Appellant's trial. R. 30, l. 7 - 31, l. 8. Counsel reminded the trial court that it had approved funding for an expert witness only a week before the trial. R. 26, ll. 20-25; *see also* R. 475 - 476.

Defense counsel further explained that, given the voluminous discovery, her need to prepare for trial, and the eve-of-trial provision of funding for an expert witness, she had hastily retained a former law enforcement officer whom she believed to be qualified as an expert on gunshot residue evidence. R. 26, l. 20 - 29, l. 6. On the day of Appellant's trial, the State's gunshot residue expert, SLED technician Jennifer Stoner, informed defense counsel that the individual she had retained was not qualified to provide expert testimony on gunshot residue. *Id.*

Accordingly, defense counsel requested a continuance so that she could retain and thoroughly vet a new GSR expert. *Id.* Counsel argued that without a defense expert, Appellant would be unable to present a complete defense. *Id.* Specifically, counsel highlighted discrepancies between the SLED GSR report and the actual results of the GSR test kit. *Id.*

Stoner's report concluded that "several [r]ound particles associated with gunshot residue were found" on the back of Appellant's left hand. The report also stated that one round particle associated with GSR was found on Appellant's left palm and the back of Appellant's right hand. *Id.*

The GSR test kit recorded that the “several round particles” were actually only two particles. Only four particles out of a total of six-hundred fifteen tested from four samples, registered as consisted with GSR. *Id.*

Defense Counsel posited, “[o]ur concern is that hearing from only one expert [the jury] is going to hear only what the State wants them to hear and we’re not going to have the opportunity to explain how many particles you would actually expect to find on a person that has fired a gun.” R. 26, l. 20 - 29, l. 6. In addition, counsel noted that the defense was entitled to have access to expert witnesses and that the State had only provided the GSR kit and SLED case file the week before trial. R. 26, l. 20 - 27, l. 12; R. 29, ll. 19-22.

The State countered that their expert “would be the perfect person” to fully and fairly explain GSR tests and its implications to the jury. R. 29, ll. 7-18. The State assured the court that SLED technician Stoner would testify on the environmental factors that could lead to a false positive GSR test result. R. 30, ll. 11-15. Without taking further argument, the trial court denied the continuance while imploring defense counsel to try and locate an expert in GSR analysis before the close of the State’s case. *Id.* at ll. 16-17; R. 59, l. 24 - 61, l. 6.

Trial Testimony of SLED Technician Jennifer Stoner

Stoner testified that the GSR tests had been properly administered on Appellant and that GSR consists of three elements: barium, antimony, and lead. R. 318, l. 9 - 321, l. 5. Test results revealed that there were no GSR particles on Appellant’s right palm. *Id.* There was “one round particle” consistent with GSR on the back of Appellant’s right hand. *Id.* Appellant’s left palm also had one round particle consistent with GSR on it. *Id.* The back of Appellant’s left hand had “several round particles associated with gunshot residue.” *Id.* As noted above, in actuality there were only two “round particles” on the back of Appellant’s left hand.

Confirming defense counsel earlier concerns, despite only **four of the six hundred fifteen particles** being consistent with GSR, Stoner concluded, **“I found particles that were consistent and associated, which I feel are from gunshot residue, but I cannot call them gunshot residue because it was not the three component particles.”** R. 321, ll. 2-5 (*emphasis added*). On cross-examination, Stoner conceded that no GSR particles were found, but reiterated that she found particles consistent with GSR. R. 326, l. 1 - 327, l. 4.

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