**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

Appeal from Laurens County  
Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

NOV 16 2016

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

v.

**DAVID LEE WALKER,**

**Appellant.**

Appellate Case No. 2015-000519

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 101477  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit  
P.O. Box 516

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

## ARGUMENTS

### I.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion instructing the jury on accomplice liability where the evidence presented at trial supported the charge and supported the theory that appellant and two co-defendants planned the robbery that led to the murder, and the evidence presented was equivocal as to who shot the victim. Further, the jury charge was correct, as a whole, and any error by the trial court during its instructions was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### How the Issue Was Raised

During his opening statement, the solicitor told the jury the State would present evidence that appellant and two men went to the victim's mobile home to rob him. (R.p.66, lines 4-8). While the State believed appellant was the shooter, the solicitor also informed the jury it could find appellant guilty under the theory of accomplice liability because he and his co-defendants planned the robbery and the victim was murdered during the commission of that crime. (R.p.66, lines 14-20; p.69, line 2-p.71, line 2).

Prior to the jury charge, defense counsel objected to the proposed instructions on accomplice liability and the felony murder inference, and argued the State had not presented sufficient evidence to support either of the theories. (R.p.404, line 20-p.405, line 12). Counsel asserted the State maintained at trial that appellant was the shooter, and the State's strategic decision not to charge appellant with armed robbery evinced its theory that no one other than appellant shot the victim. (R.p.407, line 11-p.408, line 9). However, counsel acknowledged she would request a "mere presence" charge, if the court instructed the jury on accomplice liability. (R.p.405, lines 19-21).

The State countered that witnesses' testimony established appellant and two men "intended to go as a group to Enoree and rob a drug dealer" who lived there. (R.p.408, lines 10-

24). The State argued it asserted appellant was the shooter because the victim said he was, but there remained sufficient evidence presented to support the "hand of one, hand of all" and felony murder inference instructions because "clearly there was a robbery planned," appellant was present, and the homicide was a logical extension of the robbery.<sup>6</sup> (R.p.408, line 10-p.409, line 9).

The trial court ruled it would charge the jury on both theories because there was evidence "from which one could conclude, that the hand of one instruction is appropriate as well as the felony murder inference." (R.p.409, lines 10-14).

The trial court subsequently instructed the jury at length on the law of the case, including the elements of the charged crimes, reasonable doubt, witness credibility, and burden of proof. (R.p.444, line 16-p.460, line 13). The court also charged the jury on accomplice liability, explaining, "Whether two or more acting with a common plan or intent are present at the commission of the crime, it doesn't matter who actually commits the crime. All are guilty. The hand of one is the hand of all." (R.p.453, line 11-p.454, line 21). The court then defined the necessary element of intent before cautioning the jury:

[M]ere presence at the scene isn't sufficient to prove someone guilty of a crime. The Defendant's presence where a crime is being committed, or mere association with a person who commits a crime, doesn't make a Defendant an accomplice or an aider and abettor of the person committing the crime. The burden is on the State to prove every element of the crime charged. If you find after reviewing all the evidence that the State has proven that the Defendant was only present at the scene of the crime and that they have not proved beyond a reasonable doubt any other participation in the crime, then you should find – then you must find the Defendant not guilty. The law is that proof of being at the scene of the crime is not sufficient to find someone guilty.

---

<sup>6</sup> The State further explained it did not charge appellant with armed robbery because he remained at the scene after being shot, and did not flee with any of the victim's belongings. (R.p.408, lines 20-24).

(R.p.454, line 21-p.455, line 23). Additionally, when charging malice to the jury, the court explained:

I instruct you that if one intentionally kills another during the commission of a felony, the inference of malice may arise. If facts are proven beyond a reasonable doubt sufficient to raise an inference of malice to your satisfaction, this inference would simply be an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you along with all other evidence in the case and you may give it the weight that you decide it should receive.

(R.p.456, line 25-p.457, line 8). Following the instructions, the jury deliberated for about four and a half hours before retiring for the evening, then continued deliberating for another hour the following morning, and returned with a guilty verdict for murder. (R.p.461, lines 12-13; p.462, lines 4-5; p.466, lines 4-22; p.468, lines 2-10; p.469).

#### Standard of Review

"An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion." *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). In reviewing jury charges for error, appellate courts must consider the trial court's charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 90, 747 S.E.2d 444, 448 (2013) (citation omitted). "A jury charge is correct if, when read as a whole, the charge adequately covers the law." *Id.* at 90-91, 747 S.E.2d at 448. A charge that is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. *Id.*

#### Analysis

Under the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory, a person who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is criminally liable for everything done by his accomplice incidental to the execution of the common plan. *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 648, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999). Our Supreme Court has further held that "[l]ike a lesser-included offense, an

alternate theory of liability may only be charged when the evidence is equivocal on some integral fact and the jury has been presented with evidence upon which it could rely to find the existence or nonexistence of a fact." *Barber v. State*, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 S.E.2d 436, 439 (2011). In *Barber*, four men committed an armed robbery and, during the robbery, one of the men shot two of the victims. *Id.* at 234-35, 712 S.E.2d at 437-38. Three of the robbers pled guilty and all testified at Barber's trial that Barber shot the victims. *Id.* at 235, 712 S.E.2d at 438. On appeal, Barber argued the evidence at trial did not support a jury charge on accomplice liability. *Id.* at 236, 712 S.E.2d at 438. Our Supreme Court noted "[t]o support an accomplice liability charge in this case, the question is whether there is any evidence that another co-conspirator was the shooter and Barber was acting with him when the robbery took place." *Id.* at 237, 712 S.E.2d at 439. Under this test, the Court ultimately found the trial court did not err in instructing the jury on accomplice liability because "the sum of the evidence presented at trial, both by the State and defense, was equivocal as to who was the shooter." *Id.* at 236, 712 S.E.2d at 439.

Here, the evidence presented at trial supported the inference that appellant and his accomplices conspired to rob the victim, leading to his murder. *See State v. Fleming*, 243 S.C. 265, 274, 133 S.E.2d 800, 805 (1963) (holding the State need not show a formal expressed agreement to prove parties acted as accomplices, but may prove the agreement by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties). Appellant's niece testified appellant, Wells, and a third man were together on the night of the murder when appellant asked her if she had a gun he could borrow because they planned to rob a man in Enoree. (R.pp.75-79). The victim's friend corroborated that testimony when she stated she saw two men outside the victim's home that she did not recognize and saw a third man in the getaway vehicle. (R.pp.94-97; p.120; p.124). She later identified two of those men as appellant and Wells. The victim's friend also testified to

hearing several voices, including at least one she did not recognize. (R.pp.92-93). Moreover, an investigator testified the victim told him "they" came to his house to rob him. (R.p.355). Such testimony supported the theory that appellant and his co-defendants planned the robbery together and the victim died as a consequence. Accordingly, the evidence was sufficient to support an accomplice liability charge. *See Langley*, 334 S.C. at 648, 515 S.E.2d at 101 (explaining that under the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory, a person who joined another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable for everything done by his accomplice in the commission of the common plan); *see also State v. Burriss*, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999) (holding the trial court should grant a requested instruction if there is any evidence presented at trial to support the charge).

Moreover, similar to the facts in *Barber*, the evidence presented in appellant's case was equivocal as to who fired the shot that ultimately killed the victim. *See Barber*, 393 S.C. at 236, 712 S.E.2d at 439 (holding an alternate theory of liability may be charged when the evidence is equivocal on some integral fact and the jury was presented with evidence supporting the existence or nonexistence of a fact). While the victim told his friend and investigators that appellant shot him, the victim was in pain and bleeding from two gunshot wounds at the time. More importantly, the jury also heard evidence that the gun used in the murder did not belong to appellant. (R.p.79). The victim's niece testified appellant told her he and his accomplices wanted another gun to use during the robbery because they only had one, which belonged to Wells. (R.pp.77-79). Further, a deputy testified a gun and two bullet casings were found in the yard, near the area where the victim's friend saw both appellant and one of his co-defendants, and it was not clear who actually fired the gun before it was dropped to the ground. (R.pp.94-96; p.124; p.170; pp.279-80; p.285, lines 1-8). The co-defendant standing near appellant was later

identified as Wells—the owner of the only gun used during the robbery. Accordingly, the evidence presented at trial was equivocal as to who was the shooter, and the trial court was correct in charging the jury on the theory of accomplice liability. *See Barber*, 393 S.C. at 237, 712 S.E.2d at 439 (noting to support an accomplice liability charge, the relevant question is whether there is any evidence that another co-conspirator was the shooter and appellant was acting with him when the robbery took place).

Finally, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in its instructions where the record shows the jury charge, as a whole, was correct. *See Logan*, 405 S.C. at 90, 747 S.E.2d at 448 (holding appellate courts must consider the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence presented at trial when reviewing the instructions for error). The court instructed the jury at length on the law of the case, including the elements of the charged crimes, witness credibility, and reasonable doubt. (R.pp.444-60). During the accomplice liability charge, the court also cautioned the jury that a defendant's mere presence at the scene was insufficient to prove he was guilty, reminding the jury that they must find the State demonstrated, beyond a reasonable doubt, that appellant actively participated in the crime. (R.pp.454-55). The record shows the jurors thoroughly and thoughtfully considered the entire charge, as they deliberated for close to six hours over the course of two days. (R.pp.461-62; p.466, p.468). *See Logan*, 405 S.C. at 90-91, 747 S.E.2d at 448 (holding a jury charge is correct if, when read as a whole, it adequately covers the law, and such a charge does not require reversal).

Therefore, the trial court did not err in charging the jury on accomplice liability as the evidence presented at trial supported the instruction.

#### *Harmless Error*

Even if this Court were to find an abuse of discretion, any error in the jury instructions

was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 611, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009) ("Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis."). When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, an appellate court must determine that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. *Taylor v. State*, 312 S.C. 179, 181, 439 S.E.2d 820, 821 (1993). Harmless error review looks to the basis upon which the jury rested its verdict. *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 279 (1993). The appellate court must find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue as revealed in the record, which is a fact-intensive inquiry. *See State v. Jefferies*, 316 S.C. 13, 22, 446 S.E.2d 427, 432 (1994) ("We must review the facts the jury heard and weigh those facts against the erroneous jury charge to determine what effect, if any, it had on the verdict") (citation omitted).

Here, there were two other theories under which the jury could find appellant guilty, even if it did not hear the accomplice liability charge. First, the trial court properly charged the felony murder inference. The court explained the jury could find an inference of malice sufficient to support a guilty verdict for murder, if the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the victim was killed during the commission of a felony. (R.pp.456-57). The felony murder inference instruction given in this case was similar to that which was characterized as a "proper charge on implied malice" by our Supreme Court. *See State v. Norris*, 285 S.C. 86, 92, 328 S.E.2d 339, 343 (1985) (*overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991)) (stating South Carolina makes no distinction between murder and felony-murder and suggesting a proper implied malice charge); *cf. Lowry v. State*, 376 S.C. 499, 506, 657 S.E.2d 760, 764 (2008) (holding a presumed malice approach to felony murder unconstitutionally shifts the State's burden of proof on the issue of malice, while noting courts may charge juries using

permissive language that indicates an inference of malice may arise from an act occurring during the commission of a felony and the inference may be accepted or rejected by the jury as it deems appropriate); *see also Lyles v. Reynolds*, No. 6:15-cv-04229-RMG, 2016 WL 4940319, at \*6 (D.S.C. Sept. 14, 2016) (contrasting the language used in *Lowry* with the permissive language used by the state court in the felony murder inference instruction at issue to find federal habeas relief was not warranted).

The testimony presented at trial was clear that appellant and his co-defendants came up with a plan to rob "an older man" in Enoree who sold liquor and drugs out of his mobile home, and that the victim died during the commission of that crime. The victim told investigators before he died that the men had been there to rob him and he told his friend the men took his money, keys, and jewelry. Further, at least one bullet that hit the victim was fired from the gun found in the yard where appellant and a co-defendant were seen, the gun did not belong to the victim and was taken to the scene by appellant and his accomplices, and the victim's gold chain and pendant were yanked off his neck and found outside. Therefore, the jury could find the victim's murder was a logical consequence of the robbery in which appellant actively participated.

Second, there was sufficient evidence presented that appellant was the shooter. The victim's friend testified he told her appellant shot him, a lieutenant testified the victim said the man on the porch, identified as appellant, shot him, and the lead investigator testified the victim stated appellant shot him first and he fired back. Finally, particles consistent and associated with GSR were found on appellant's hands and, as noted, the gun that fired a shot that hit the victim was found in the yard near where appellant was lying.

Accordingly, while respondent submits the trial court's instruction on accomplice liability

was not error, any alleged error was harmless as the jury could find appellant guilty of murder under other properly charged theories of liability supported by the facts presented to the jury at trial.<sup>7</sup>

---

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